93347-2

No. 46758-5-II

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### DIVISION TWO

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### ALLIXZANDER HARRIS,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY

The Honorable Sally F. Olson

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

### A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Allixander Harris was charged with promoting the commercial sexual abuse of two minor women, promoting prostitution of an adult woman, and witness tampering as well as several aggravating circumstances. One of these aggravating circumstances, recent recidivism was not supported by competent evidence, and was unconstitutionally vague. In addition, when imposing a substantial sum of Legal Financial Obligations (LFOs), the court failed to consider the financial circumstances of Mr. Harris. The court also denied Mr. Harris his right to be present at a pretrial hearing when it had him removed for misconduct without considering lesser sanctions. Finally, the court denied Mr. Harris's right to represent himself even though he assented to the court's invitation. Mr. Harris submits he is entitled to reversal of his convictions and remand for a new trial, or reversal of his sentence and remand for resentencing.

### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. There was insufficient evidence presented to support the jury's verdict regarding the aggravating factor of rapid recidivism.

2. The recent recidivism aggravator is unconstitutionally vague.

3. The trial court failed to find on the record that Mr. Harris had the ability to pay the Legal Financial Obligations (LFOs) imposed.

4. Mr. Harris's constitutionally protected right to be present was violated when the trial court barred him from the courtroom.

5. The trial court violated Mr. Harris's constitutionally protected right to represent himself at trial.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Sufficient evidence supports an aggravating circumstance where the evidence is competent evidence. Hearsay is not competent evidence. Where the only evidence supporting the rapid recidivism aggravating circumstance was the Community Corrections Officer's (CCO) hearsay statements, is Mr. Harris entitled to reversal of the aggravating factor?

2. If counsel fails to object to incompetent evidence which is prejudicial to the defendant, counsel has rendered ineffective assistance. Here, counsel failed to object to the hearsay statement of the CCO, which was the only evidence supporting the rapid recidivism aggravating circumstance. Did counsel render ineffective assistance entitling Mr. Harris to reversal of the rapid recidivism aggravating circumstance? 3. Should the exceptional sentence be reversed where the recent recidivism aggravator is unconstitutionally vague?

4. A court may impose discretionary LFOs only after making an individualized assessment on the record of the defendant's financial situation and determining his ability to pay. The court here imposed over \$7500 in discretionary LFOs without making any finding regarding Mr. Harris's financial circumstances or his ability to pay. Is Mr. Harris entitled to reversal of his sentence and remand for a new sentencing hearing?

5. A defendant possesses a constitutionally protected right to be present at all hearings where his rights are affected. That right may be limited by the trial court only if the court makes specific findings regarding the defendant's conduct and considered less restrictive alternatives to banishment. Is Mr. Harris entitled to reversal of his convictions for a violation of his right to be present where the court failed to consider any less restrictive alternatives to his banishment from then courtroom?

6. A defendant has a constitutionally protected right to represent himself where he makes a timely and unequivocal request to represent himself. Here, Mr. Harris accepted the prosecutor's and the trial court's

3

invitation to represent himself but the trial court ignored his request. Did the trial court impermissibly deny Mr. Harris his right to represent himself requiring reversal of his convictions?

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Allixander Harris was alleged to have profited off the prostitution of two minor women, S.D. and K.H. during the month of December 2012. Mr. Harris was also alleged to have promoted the prostitution of L.P., an adult. Finally, while awaiting trial, Mr. Harris was alleged to have tampered with potential witnesses in the case. As a result, Mr. Harris was charged with six counts of promoting commercial sexual abuse of a minor, one count of promoting prostitution, and one count of witness tampering. CP 196-202.<sup>1</sup> The first two counts of promoting commercial sexual abuse of a minor also charged sentence aggravators for recent recidivism, free crimes, and an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse and victimization of homeless youth. CP 196-97. The remaining promoting commercial sexual abuse of a minor counts charged only the ongoing pattern of sexual abuse and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Harris was also charged with a count of second degree possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct, which was severed before trial and dismissed once the jury returned its verdicts on the other counts. CP 202-03, 327; 8/11/2014RP 44-45.

victimization of homeless youth. CP 197-201. The ongoing pattern of sexual abuse aggravator was dismissed at the close of the State's case. 8/27/2014RP 1526-28.

Following a jury trial, Mr. Harris was convicted as charged including the sentence aggravators. CP 304-18. The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence of 486 months. CP 438-49.

### E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

# 1. The State failed to prove the aggravating circumstance regarding rapid recidivism with competent admissible evidence.

Following the jury's verdict finding Mr. Harris guilty of the charged offenses, the court conducted a subsequent jury trial on the recent recidivist aggravator. The sole witness to testify was CCO Rex Garland. 8/29/2014RP 8-9. Mr. Garland testified that based upon his review of the State's computer system, the Offender Management Network Information (OMNI), Mr. Harris was released from prison on October 1, 2012. 8/29/2014RP 11. Based solely on this testimony, the jury found Mr. Harris guilty of the aggravating factor. CP 324-26.

a. The State bears the burden of proving each of the essential elements of the charged aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt.

Under RCW 9.94A.585(4), the facts supporting an exceptional sentence must support the reasons for the exceptional sentence. *State v. Griffin*, 173 Wn.2d 467, 474, 268 P.3d 924 (2012). This is reviewed under a sufficiency of the evidence standard. *Id.* 

Under the sufficiency of the evidence standard, the State is required to prove each element of the aggravating factor charged beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend XIV; *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 471, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); *Griffin*, 173 Wn.2d at 474. The standard the reviewing court uses in analyzing a claim of insufficiency of the evidence is "[w]hether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979).

The evidence supporting the aggravating factor must be competent, admissible evidence. *Griffin*, 173 Wn.2d at 475-76. Where the only evidence supporting the aggravating factor is inadmissible, "there is no evidence in the record supporting the trial court's aggravated circumstance finding." *Id*. The court may impose an exceptional sentence where the defendant committed the offense "shortly after being released from incarceration." RCW 9.95A.535(3)(t). This aggravating factor is also known colloquially as "rapid recidivism." *State v. Williams*, 159 Wn.App. 298, 309, 244 P.3d 1018 (2011).

Here, as in *Griffin*, the only evidence supporting the jury's finding regarding the rapid recidivism factor was the testimony of the CCO regarding the date Mr. Harris was allegedly released from incarceration. Thus, as the Court ruled in *Griffin*:

Because the only evidence supporting the trial court's finding of an aggravating circumstance was inadmissible, there is no evidence in the record supporting the trial court's aggravating circumstance finding.

*Griffin*, 173 Wn.2d at 475-76.<sup>2</sup>

Thus, as in *Griffin*, the jury's finding regarding the rapid recidivism aggravator was not supported by admissible evidence, thus the exceptional sentence must be reversed and the matter remanded for resentencing. *Griffin*, 173 Wn.2d at 476.

b. Alternatively, defense counsel rendered constitutionally deficient performance when he failed to object to the inadmissible hearsay testimony of CCO Garland

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Griffin involved a bench trial, thus the use of the terms "court's finding."

A person accused of a crime has a constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI;<sup>3</sup> Const. art. I, § 22;<sup>4</sup> *United States v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 654, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984); *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). "The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel's skill and knowledge is necessary to accord defendants the 'ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution' to which they are entitled." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), *quoting Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann*, 317 U.S. 269, 276, 63 S.Ct. 236, 87 L.Ed.2d 268 (1942).

A new trial should be granted if (1) counsel's performance at trial was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. As to the first inquiry (performance), an attorney renders constitutionally inadequate representation when he or she engages in conduct for which there is no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Sixth Amendment provides, in relevant part, "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Article I, § 22 of the Washington Constitution provides, in relevant part, "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel...."

legitimate strategic or tactical basis. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335-36, 899 P.2d 1251 (1998). A decision is not permissibly tactical or strategic if it is not reasonable. *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 481, 120 S.Ct. 1029, 145 L.Ed.2d 985 (2000); *see also Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 521, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003) ("[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms"), *quoting Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. While an attorney's decisions are treated with deference, his actions must be reasonable under all the circumstances. *Wiggins*, 539 U.S. at 533-34.

As to the second inquiry (prejudice), if there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's inadequate performance, the result would have been different, prejudice is established and reversal is required. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d at 78. A reasonable probability "is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *State v*. *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). It is a lower standard than the "more likely than not" standard. *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226. Should this Court determine that in order for the holding in *Griffin* to apply, counsel was required to have objected, and the trial court was required to have made a ruling on that objection, then counsel's performance was constitutionally deficient for a failure to object. Here, counsel failed to object to inadmissible hearsay evidence: the CCO's testimony that Mr. Harris was released from custody on October 1, 2012. 8/29/2014RP 11.<sup>5</sup> Had counsel objected, the trial court would have been required to sustain the objection and the statement would have been excluded, thus eliminating the sole evidentiary basis for the jury's finding. *See* ER 802 ("Hearsay is not admissible").

The court and defense counsel may have been acting under the assumption that the Rules of Evidence do not apply at sentencing, thus the hearsay testimony was entirely proper. *See* 1101(c)(3) (rules of evidence "need not be applied" at sentencing). But, the Supreme Court in *Griffin* held that the term "sentencing" did not include evidentiary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Hearsay is defined as statements "other than one made by declarant while testifying . . . . offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. ER 801(c). The record here reflects that Garland's testimony was hearsay and did not fall under the business records exception because the State failed to lay a proper foundation. *State v. Walker*, 16 Wn.App. 637, 640, 557 P.2d 1330 (1976).

hearings such as the one at issue here involving a jury fact finding. *Griffin*, 173 Wn.2d at 475. Since *Griffin* predated the evidentiary hearing held in Mr. Harris's matter by three years, defense counsel was imputed with this knowledge.

Since there could be no legitimate strategic reason for counsel's failure to object to inadmissible hearsay evidence that was the sole basis for the jury's finding, Mr. Harris is entitled to reversal of his exceptional sentence and remand for resentencing.

## 2. The recent recidivist aggravator is unconstitutionally vague.

Regardless of the evidence actually presented in this case, the exceptional sentence should be reversed because the recent recidivist aggravator is unconstitutionally vague.

"A statute is void for vagueness if it fails to define the offense with sufficient precision that a person of ordinary intelligence can understand it, or it does not provide standards sufficiently specific to prevent arbitrary enforcement." *State v. Duncalf*, 177 Wn.2d 289, 296-97, 300 P.3d 352 (2013) (internal quotation omitted). The test for vagueness is whether a person of reasonable understanding is required to guess at the meaning of the statute. *Id.* at 297. A statute fails to adequately guard against arbitrary enforcement where it lacks ascertainable or legally fixed standards of application or invites "unfettered latitude" in its application. *Smith v. Goguen*, 415 U.S. 574, 578, 94 S. Ct. 1242, 15 L. Ed. 2d 447 (1973). The Court reviews a vagueness challenge *de novo. State v. Williams*, 159 Wn.App. 298, 319, 244 P.3d 1018 (2011).

The constitutional requirement must be applied to sentencing aggravators in light of recent federal cases. In State v. Baldwin, our Supreme Court held "the void for vagueness doctrine should have application only to laws that 'proscribe or prescribe conduct' and that it was 'analytically unsound' to apply the doctrine to laws that merely provide directives that judges should consider when imposing sentences." 150 Wn.2d 448, 458, 78 P.3d 1005 (2003), quoting State v. Jacobson, 92 Wn.App. 958, 966, 967, 965 P.2d 1140 (1998). But this holding is incorrect in light of *Blakely*, 542 U.S. 296 and *Alleyne v*. United States, U.S., 133 S. Ct. 2151, 2155, 186 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2013). *Baldwin*'s holding that aggravating factors "do not . . . vary the statutory maximum and minimum penalties assigned to illegal conduct by the legislature" cannot withstand these United States Supreme Court decisions finding statutory factors do alter the statutory maximum for the offense and must be first found by a jury beyond a reasonable

12

doubt. *E.g.*, *Blakely*, 542 U.S. at 306-07. The United States Supreme Court has also made clear that "due process and associated jury protections extend, to some degree, to determinations that [go] not to a defendant's guilt or innocence, but simply to the length of his sentence." *Apprendi*, 530 U.S. at 484. *Apprendi* and *Alleyne* clearly establish that aggravating factors affect a liberty interest protected by the Due Process Clause; this Court should adhere to those precedents rather than to the conflicting holding in *Baldwin*.

The recent recidivism aggravator is impermissibly vague because it is impossible to know what the term "shortly after being released from incarceration" means. The statute provides no standards against which the jury, the accused, or the trial judge can measure what is "shortly." *See* RCW 9.94A.535(3)(t). A jury has no reference point from which to determine the conduct that constitutes "shortly after being released," just as the public has no way of knowing which conduct is proscribed. In Mr. Harris's case in particular, the jury had no reference point with regard to measure how much is "shortly" after being released; one day, one week, one month, etc. This statutory provision is vague because it is ripe for arbitrary enforcement. *Goguen*, 415 U.S. at 578. This Court should strike the aggravator for vagueness.

# 3. The trial court erred in imposing court costs and attorney's fees without making a finding regarding Mr. Harris's inability to pay.

At sentencing, the court imposed LFOs in the amount of \$7,535 of which only \$600 were mandatory fees. CP 445. The Judgment and Sentence contains a boilerplate finding stating: "The Court finds that the Defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay legal financial obligations." CP 445. In sentencing Mr. Harris, the trial court made no oral finding regarding his ability to pay the LFOs, stating simply: "All the financials that the State imposed will be ordered." 9/26/2014RP 22.

# a. The court may impose court costs and fees only after a finding of an ability to pay.

The allowance and recovery of costs is entirely statutory. *State v. Nolan,* 98 Wn.App. 75, 78-79, 988 P.2d 473 (1999). Under RCW 10.01.160(1), the court can order a defendant convicted of a felony to repay court costs as part of the judgment and sentence. RCW 10.01.160(2) limits the costs to those "expenses specially incurred by the state in prosecuting the defendant or in administering the deferred prosecution program under 10.05 RCW or pretrial supervision."

However, RCW 10.01.160(3) states that the sentencing court cannot order a defendant to pay court costs "unless the defendant is or

will be able to pay them." *See also State v. Blazina*, \_\_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_\_, 344 P.3d 680, 685 (2015) (citing RCW 10.01.160 and requiring court to make individualized inquiry into defendant's ability to pay). In making that determination, the sentencing court must take into consideration the financial resources of the defendant and the burden imposed by ordering payment of court costs.

Blazina held:

"[t]he court *shall not* order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them." [citation omitted] To determine the amount and method for paying of costs, "the court *shall* take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose." [citation omitted]

*Id.*, *citing* RCW 10.01.160(3) (emphasis in original).

The court here made no such inquiry and under Blazina, Mr.

Harris is entitled to a new sentencing hearing.

b. *The trial court failed to make an individualized inquiry into Mr. Harris's ability to pay the LFOs.* 

In its recent decision in Blazina, the Supreme Court held that

prior to imposing discretionary LFOs, the trial court must make an

individualized inquiry into the defendant's financial circumstances and

his current and future ability to pay. Blazina, 344 P.3d at 685. In

addition, the record must reflect this individualized inquiry:

Practically speaking, this imperative under RCW 10.01.160(3) means that the court must do more than sign a judgment and sentence with boilerplate language stating that it engaged in the required inquiry. The record must reflect that the trial court made an individualized inquiry into the defendant's current and future ability to pay. Within this inquiry, the court must also consider important factors, as amici suggest, such as incarceration and a defendant's other debts, including restitution, when determining a defendant's ability to pay.

Id. (emphasis added).

Here, the trial court failed to make the individualized inquiry

required under 10.01.160. CP 445. At sentencing, the court's

imposition of LFOs was short and succinct: "All the financials that the

State imposed will be ordered." 9/26/2014RP 22.

Further, the Supreme Court rejected the argument that the issue

was not ripe for challenge because like here, there has been no attempt

to collect the LFOs:

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