93347-2

NO. 46758-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ALLIXZANDER DEVELL HARRIS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON
Superior Court No. 13-1-00087-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TINA R. ROBINSON
Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL A. SUTTON
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street
Port Orchard, WA 98366
(360) 337-7174

SERVICE

Thomas Michael Kummerow
1511 3rd Avenue, Ste 701
Seattle, Wa 98101-3647
Email: tom@washapp.org;
wapofficemail@washapp.org

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

Harris argues that the evidence was insufficient for the jury to find the rapid recidivism aggravating circumstance. This claim is without merit because it depends on this Court finding that the evidence of his release date was inadmissible hearsay. That claim, however, has not been preserved for review. Moreover, even if it had been, the State laid a sufficient foundation to admit the evidence. Finally, since the trial court stated it would impose the same exceptional sentence with or without this aggravator, the point is largely moot.

1. Harris failed to preserve this evidentiary issue by objecting at trial.

Harris has failed to give any reason why this Court should consider his claims that were not raised below. RAP 2.5(a) limits appellate review of alleged errors that were not properly preserved:

The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. However, a party may raise the following claimed errors for the first time in the appellate court: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted,

and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right. Questions of the admissibility of evidence, are not of constitutional magnitude and do not fall within RAP 2.5's exceptions, and thus may not be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Davis*, 141 Wn.2d 798, 850, 10 P.3d 977 (2000); *see also State v. Clark*, 139 Wn.2d 152, 156-57, 985 P.2d 377 (1999). Harris's only claim is that the State failed to lay an adequate foundation for introducing the Department of Corrections record of his release from prison. Since he did not object in any way to this evidence at trial, *see* . RP (8/29/14) 9-11, he cannot now assert that it should not have been admitted.

2. *The evidence was properly admitted.*

Harris relies primarily on *State v. Griffin*, 173 Wn. 2d 467, 474, 268 P.3d 924, 928 (2012). That case, however, sheds no light on the issue presented here. There, the defendant's release date was testified to by a deputy sheriff, Sergeant Davis. As the Court noted, the "Court of Appeals held, and the parties do not dispute, that Sergeant Davis' testimony was inadmissible under the rules of evidence." *Griffin*, 173 Wn. 2d at 475. The Court of Appeals decision in that case was unpublished, and thus also does not illuminate the matter.

Harris fails to seriously address the evidentiary issue at all. He attempts to piggyback onto *Griffin* by assuming that case to be factually

the same as this one.¹ However, a review of the evidence in this case shows that the testimony was admissible.

Great weight is given to the trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence under the business records exception. *State v. Ziegler*, 114 Wn.2d 533, 538, 789 P.2d 79 (1990). Accordingly, its ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a manifest abuse of discretion. *Ziegler*, 114 Wn.2d at 538. Here, of course, the trial court was never given an opportunity to rule on the issue.

There are five requirements for the admission of business records, all of which are satisfied here. First, the evidence must be in the form of a "record." *State v. Kreck*, 86 Wn.2d 112, 118, 542 P.2d 782 (1975). Here, the Community Corrections Officer, Rex Garland testified that the information came from the Department of Corrections Offender Management Network Information system ("OMNI"), which he characterized as the offender's "electronic file." RP (8/29/14) 10. According to DOC Policy 280.500(III)(A):²

The Department will maintain electronic files to track information on all offenders admitted to a Department

¹ He also makes passing reference in his ineffectiveness claim to *State v. Walker*, 16 Wn. App. 637, 557 P.2d 1330 (1976). As will be seen, that case does not support his position either.

² Retrieved from <http://www.doc.wa.gov/policies/default.aspx?show=200> (viewed August 27, 2015). While the State notes that this information was not presented at trial, if Harris had objected to the foundation, the information could easily have been presented.

facility of supervised by the Department.

Second, the record must be of an “act, condition or event”; accordingly, entries in the form of opinions are not admissible. *Kreck*, 86 Wn.2d at 118. Garland testified that the OMNI system contained “records of the events in prison, the placement in prison, the time for release, time that they are released, the time they begin their community supervision, the time they end their community supervision, and what transpires during community supervision.” RP (8/29/14) 10. Further, Policy 280.500(III)(C)(1) specifically provides that “information that is subjective” shall not be entered into the electronic file.

Third, the record must be made in the regular course of business. It cannot be suggested that an offender’s electronic file containing “records of the events in prison, the placement in prison, the time for release, time that they are released, the time they begin their community supervision, the time they end their community supervision, and what transpires during community supervision” is not a record made in the ordinary course of business of the Department of Corrections, whose mandate is the supervision of offenders in prison and in the community.

Fourth, the record must be made “at or near the time of the act, condition or event.” Policy 280.500(III)(D) requires that chronological entries for prisons shall be made no later than 72 hours after the event or

action.

Finally, the court must be satisfied that “the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission.” *Kreck*, 86 Wn.2d at 119. There is no reason to believe that the official Department of Corrections record for an offender is not reliable.

Additionally it should be noted that under DOC Policy 280.525(I)(C) “[e]ach Department employee ... is a Records Custodian.” Garland was thus officially a custodian of the record in question.

Harris’s reference to *Walker* is also not particularly useful. The entire passage discussing business records reads as follows:

At trial, the court allowed a police officer to testify that the computer had reported no license number corresponding to the robbery victim’s report. (The victim told the police that the getaway car had a license number JDW 631; the license number of Walker’s car was IDW 631.) Walker’s hearsay objection to this testimony was denied. It was error to admit the testimony; the record does not reflect that a proper foundation was laid for admitting the testimony under the business records exception to the hearsay rule. *Seattle v. Heath*, 10 Wn. App. 949, 520 P.2d 1392 (1974); RCW 5.45.020.

Walker, 16 Wn. App. at 640. As discussed previously, Garland’s testimony met the requirements of the business records exception. To the extent it did not, if Harris had objected, it is clear that the DOC policies governing the electronic offender files did meet the requirements and the

foundation could easily have been established. As such this claim would be without merit even if it had been preserved for review.

3. The record fails to show counsel was ineffective for not objecting.

In order to overcome the strong presumption of effectiveness that applies to counsel's representation, a defendant bears the burden of demonstrating both deficient performance and prejudice. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); *see also Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). If either part of the test is not satisfied, the inquiry need go no further. *State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 894, 822 P.2d 177 (1991), *cert. denied*, 506 U.S. 856 (1992).

The performance prong of the test is deferential to counsel: the reviewing court presumes that the defendant was properly represented. *Lord*, 117 Wn.2d at 883; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89. It must make every effort to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and must strongly presume that counsel's conduct constituted sound trial strategy. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689; *In re Rice*, 118 Wn.2d 876, 888-89, 828 P.2d 1086 (1992). "Deficient performance is not shown by matters that go to trial strategy or tactics." *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996).

To show prejudice, the defendant must establish that "there is a

reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different." *Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d at 78; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. Where, as here, the claim is brought on direct appeal, the Court limits review to matters contained in the trial record. *State v. Crane*, 116 Wn.2d 315, 335, 804 P.2d 10, *cert. denied*, 501 U.S. 1237 (1991).

As discussed above, the claim of an insufficient foundation is without merit. As such, counsel cannot be deemed to be deficient for failing to make a pointless objection.

Moreover, Harris cannot show prejudice. As also discussed previously, to the extent there was any deficiency in the foundation, such deficiency could easily have been met if there had been an objection. Finally, as discussed in the next section, even if the jury had not found the recent recidivism aggravator, the trial court would have still imposed an exceptional sentence. This claim should be rejected.

4. Even if the evidence were insufficient, Harris's sentence should be affirmed.

Here the trial court specifically ruled that it would impose the same exceptional sentence even without this aggravating circumstance:

That the grounds listed in the preceding paragraph, taken together or considered individually, constitute sufficient cause to impose the exceptional sentence. This Court would impose the exact same sentence even if only one of the grounds listed in the preceding paragraph is valid.

CP 437. Thus even if Harris's contentions regarding the recent recidivism

aggravator were accepted, his sentence would properly be affirmed, as the Supreme Court has held:

The next question is whether the exceptional sentences should be upheld on the basis of victim vulnerability alone or whether remand for resentencing is necessary. An exceptional sentence may be affirmed where only one of the trial court's reasons for imposing an exceptional sentence is upheld; however, remand for resentencing is necessary where it is not clear whether the trial court would have imposed the exceptional sentence on the basis of the factor which is upheld. *State v. Gaines*, 122 Wn.2d 502, 512, 859 P.2d 36 (1993).

Here, the trial court's conclusions of law state as to each count that the particular vulnerability of each of the victims alone justifies an exceptional sentence. There are no contrary indications in the record. Accordingly, we conclude that the trial court would have imposed the exceptional sentences solely on the basis of victim vulnerability, and therefore Gore's exceptional sentences are affirmed on the basis of victim vulnerability.

State v. Gore, 143 Wn.2d 288, 321, 21 P.3d 262 (2001), *overruled on other grounds*, *State v. Hughes*, 154 Wn.2d 118, 131 n.2, 110 P.3d 192 (2005). Here, we know what the trial court would have done because it explicitly stated what it would have done. Regardless of the sufficiency of the evidence for rapid recidivism, Harris's sentence should be affirmed.

B. THE CLAIM THAT RAPID RECIDIVISM AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE IS VAGUE AS APPLIED IS WITHOUT MERIT WHERE THIS COURT HAS PREVIOUSLY HELD THAT A NEW CRIME WITHIN TWO MONTHS OF RELEASE CLEARLY FALLS WITHIN THE STATUTORY LANGUAGE.

Harris next argues that the rapid recidivism aggravating factor is

unconstitutionally vague. Harris's as-applied challenge lacks merit where this Court has previously held that a new crime within two months of release clearly falls within the statutory language.

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(t) provides that it is an aggravating factor that "[t]he defendant committed the current offense shortly after being released from incarceration." Harris argues that the words "shortly after" give insufficient notice and are therefore vague. This Court has previously rejected this argument.

A statute is unconstitutionally vague if (1) it does not define the offense with sufficient definiteness so that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited, or (2) it does not provide ascertainable standards of guilt to protect against arbitrary enforcement. *Spokane v. Douglass*, 115 Wn.2d 171, 178, 795 P.2d 693 (1990). The reviewing court presumes that a statute is constitutional, and the party challenging the statute's constitutionality bears the burden of proving the statute's invalidity beyond a reasonable doubt. *Seattle v. Eze*, 111 Wn.2d 22, 26, 759 P.2d 366 (1988). Where the statute does not impinge on First Amendment rights, the Court evaluates a vagueness challenge "by examining the statute as applied under the particular facts of the case." *State v. Coria*, 120 Wn.2d 156, 163, 839 P.2d 890 (1992).

Washington courts have considered RCW 9.94A.535(3)(t) and the

term “shortly after” on multiple occasions. *See, e.g., State v. Williams*, 159 Wn. App. 298, 320, 244 P.3d 1018 (rejecting vagueness challenge and upholding exceptional sentence where current third-degree assault was committed within 24 hours of release on a prior third degree assault conviction), *review denied*, 171 Wn.2d 1025 (2011); *State v. Combs*, 156 Wn. App. 502, 506, 232 P.3d 1179 (2010) (holding that an eluding offense committed six months after release from prison was not an offense committed “shortly after being released”); *State v. Saltz*, 137 Wn. App. 576, 585, 154 P.3d 282 (2007) (affirming exceptional sentence where the defendant committed malicious mischief 30 days after release).

This Court most recently considered RCW 9.94A.535(3)(t) in *State v. Mata*, 180 Wn. App. 108, 321 P.3d 291, *review denied*, 180 Wn.2d 1026 (2014). There, the Court rejected a vagueness challenge on the grounds that “[c]ommitting a crime within six weeks of release fits well within any common understanding of “shortly after.” *Mata*, 180 Wn. App. at 120.

Similarly, in *State v. Zigan*, 166 Wn. App. 597, 270 P.3d 625, *review denied*, 174 Wn.2d 1014 (2012), the defendant challenged on vagueness grounds the application of the rapid recidivism factor to a vehicular homicide that occurred two months after he was released from prison. *Zigan*, 166 Wn. App. at 600, 603. This Court ruled that while the

statute requires some subjective evaluation, it was not unconstitutionally vague. *Zigan*, 166 Wn. App. at 605. The Court concluded that no “reasonable person could believe that the circumstances presented here constitute anything other ‘[t]han the defendant committed the current offense shortly after being released.’” *Zigan*, 166 Wn. App. (editing the Court’s) (quoting RCW 9.94A.535(3)(t)). These cases bear out the observation in *Combs* that “what constitutes a short period of time” necessarily “will vary with the circumstances of the crime involved.” *Combs*, 156 Wn. App. at 506.

Here, Harris was released on October 1, 2012. RP (8/29/14) 11. The evidence showed that Harris began pimping out the two girls in either late November or early December. 4RP 482, 6RP 757, 6RP 820, 9RP 1299. This case is indistinguishable from *Zigan*, and Harris’s claim should be rejected. Moreover, even if it had merit, his sentence should be affirmed for the reasons discussed in Part A(4), *supra*.

C. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO REVIEW AN UNPRESERVED CLAIM REGARDING LFOS WHERE HARRIS WAS ON NOTICE OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IN STATE V. BLAZINA.

For the first time on appeal, Harris challenges the court’s imposition of legal financial obligations, arguing that there is insufficient evidence of his present or future ability to pay, citing *State v. Blazina*, 182

Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). Four of the seven legal financial obligations were mandatory and are unaffected by the decision in *Blazina*.³ The court should decline to consider the remaining amounts, for attorney’s fees and for the county expert witness and special assault funds, because Harris failed to object at sentencing, despite being put on notice by this court’s decision in *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. 906, 301 P.3d 492 (2013).

In its 2015 *Blazina* opinion, the Washington Supreme Court specifically held that it is not error for this Court to decline to reach the merits on a challenge to the imposition of LFOs made for the first time on appeal. *Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 832. “Unpreserved LFO errors do not command review as a matter of right under *Ford* and its progeny.” *Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 833 (citing *State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 472, 478, 973 P.2d 452 (1999)). The decision to review is discretionary with the reviewing court under RAP 2.5. *Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 835. In *State v. Duncan*, 180 Wn. App. 246, 327 P.3d 699 (2014), *review granted*, 353 P.3d 641 (2015), the court held that defendant’s failure to object was not

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